70628-4

70628.4

No. 70628-4

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION I

HERBERT HEINTZ AND BARBARA HEINTZ, HIS WIFE,

PETITIONERS

٧.

J. P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION AND QUALITY LOAN SERVICE CORP. OF WASHINGTON, TRUSTEE

RESPONDENTS.

PETITIONERS' OPENING BRIEF

Robert H. Stevenson Attorney for Petitioners 810 3rd Ave. #228 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 682-3624

Manuale and broom to m any of the document to affidavit is affire tify under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Washington the ADDAROUNE IS LINE and correct 0-13

۲

II. Statement of the Case

In October of 2007, Petitioners (Heintz) felt the need to lower their monthly mortgage payments. They were referred to Washington Mutual Savings Bank of Seattle for a "refinance", with the lowering of monthly payments at a reasonable interest rate. CP1, CP 12

To obtain a lower monthly payment, the note executed by Heintz for \$1,000,000.00 was to provide for a payment of \$3451.26 for a period of 5 years at an interest rate of 8.959%. After the five years, there were interest change provisions for increases in monthly payments. The note provided that the principal may be larger than the amount originally loaned but not more than 115% of the loan or \$1,150,000.00. This first monthly payment was on December 1, 2007. <u>Appendix 1, Note (P.1)</u>.

The 5-year moratorium was set out in the note as Section 4 (I), P.3, <u>Appendix A</u>,Note (p.3):

"Section 4 (I) Required monthly payment. On the fifth anniversary of the due date of the first monthly payment, and on that same day every fifth year thereafter, any minimum monthly payment will be adjusted without regard to the payment cap limitation in Section 4 (F)." Relying on the moratorium, Heintz paid \$3,451.26 for the next 27 months to Washington Mutual and Chase Bank, in addition to paying taxes and insurance. CP 5.

Unknown to Heintz, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) closed Washington Mutual on September 25, 2008, and sold the latter's assets to Chase Bank the same day. Those assets included the Heintz deed of trust and note.

On September 30, 2010, two years later, Quality Loan Service Corporation, acting as trustee under the deed of trust, notified Heintz that he was in default on monthly payments that had been unilaterally raised by Chase. A nonjudicial sale was set for February 11, 2011. Heintzs' protest to Chase that he was not in default under the moratorium were ignored. CP12, CP1. Heintz filed a complaint to restrain the foreclosure on January 31, 2011. Chase countered with a motion to dismiss on the basis that, under the Purchase and Sale Agreement between Chase and the FDIC, Chase could not be sued for the conduct of Washington Mutual. The court dismissed the complaint, but noted that it had not passed on the merits of the action. CP12. The foreclosure sale was never concluded. Two years later, June or July of 2012, Heintz received a second notice of nonjudicial foreclosure which set a sale date of November 16, 2012. No Notice of Default was given. CP15.

On December 12, 2012, Heintz filed a second action against Chase asking the court again to restrain the new sale and for damages, restitution, and attorneys' fees. CPI. Chase responded with a CR12 (b)(6) Civil Motion for Summary Judgment of Dismissal. CP16. Chase denied that validity of the 5-year moratorium and claimed the note provided for interest adjustment on at least three different times under various provisions of the note. CP23, CP20. Chase and Heintz agreed to submit the matter to the court without oral argument CP 25.

Heintz later amended his complaint to include the alleged negligence of the trustee in failure to give proper notices at the time of resetting a new foreclosure sale date. The trustee denied the allegations and moved to dismiss by Summary Judgment. CP15, CP29.

8

On June 6 and 7, the trial court dismissed the actions against Chase and the trustee. Motions for reconsideration were both denied. CP35, CP37.

- II. Argument
 - A. THE FIVE-YEAR PAYMENT MORATORIUM WAS A PART OF REFINANCING AND IS PLAIN AND UNAMBIGUOUS: THE BALANCE OF THE NOTE IS ILLUSORY AND UNENFORECABLE.

The basic aim of the refinancing of Heintz 's old Ioan was to lower monthly payments for 5 years. In addition, Heintz was to pay taxes and insurance. The note provided for monthly payment increases if the principal sum of \$1,000,000.00 was "excessively" exceeded by the limitation of 115% or \$1,150,000.00. Another provision Chase contends, permits the monthly payment to be "adjusted" on the fifth anniversary of the due date of the first monthly payment, without regard to the percentage increase limitation. CR16, P3, <u>Appendix</u> 1, Note, CP5, P.1.

Paragraph 4 (I) of the note provides, in simple language, that the monthly payment will be the same for five years from the first due date (December 1, 2007). It does so by stating that, in effect, no adjustments of the payment will be made for 5 years and this is without regard to another payment cap limitation in Section 4(F). Chase's contentions of payment change based on "excessive" exceeding of the principal is based solely on the whim of Chase. No standards for the amount in "excess" of the principal are afforded in the note. Likewise, the claim by Chase that the monthly payment is "adjustable" (without regard to the limit on the principal amount) under 4(I) (on the fifth anniversary of the due day), is in direct conflict with the moratorium language. CP16, p. 2 and 3.

The note itself is an impenetrable jungle of paragraphs, sub-paragraphs, sub-provisions, exceptions to paragraphs, sub-divisions, sub-sections, clauses and sub-clauses. The note simply lacks reasonable clarity and consistency. It places in the hands of Chase the exclusive right to dictate just when, and in what manner, minimum monthly changes are to be made. For example, it is impossible to determine what Section 4(H) means. What does "would otherwise exceed 115%" refer to and how does one determine such a question? When does it occur?

Paragraph E and 3(b) and 4(E) are also in conflict. These provisions permit Chase to fix the amount of the monthly payments "sufficient to repay the projected principal balance as of the payment change date in full on the maturity date at the interest rate in effect 45 days prior to the Payment Change Date" <u>Appendix</u> 1, Note, CP 1 & 3. These provisions are incapable of understanding, for a court to enforce it. The language is vague, indefinite, and uncertain.. How, for example, can Chase determine when and how much the "projected principal balance" is on a Payment Change Date, so long as it is under 115% or \$1,150,000.00?

Paragraph 4(B) is another vague and incomprehensible paragraph dealing with what is called an Index used to change the interest rate on change dates. Chase is given sole control of changing the Index and its terms and standards. If, for example, the original "Index is no longer available," the new Index can be almost anything Chase wants it to be. These provisions are illusory and unenforceable for they lack mutuality and promise nothing. Sandeman v. Sayres, 50 Wn2d 539, 541, 314, P2d 428 (1957) (illusory company bonus offer); Spooner v. Reserve Life Ins. Co., 47 Wn, 2d 454, 287, p.2d 735 (1955) (illusory language by an insurance company to pay its assets a renewal bonus.) A promise to be sufficient consideration for a promise to pay must be legally binding, otherwise it has no value. Therefore, the promise of Heintz to pay the loan, in a bilateral exchange, is not binding so as to constitute consideration for the counter-promise of Chase. In

reality, Chase has promised nothing at all because of indefiniteness and duration. <u>Williston on Contracts</u>, Sec. 104 (a contract that can be performed without detriment to the Defendant or benefit to that Plaintiff is insufficient consideration.) The change dates of higher interest payments are unenforceable by Chase because how, when and by what alchemy they are fixed, is undeterminable.

B. EXTRINSIC EVIDENCE IS PERMITTED TO ASCERTAIN THE INTENT AND RESONABLE BACKGROUND OF THE MORATORIUM.

The circumstances surrounding the execution of the note moratorium are important in ascertaining the intent of the parties and meanings of the provision. <u>Berg v.</u> <u>Hudesman</u>, 115 Wn2d 657, 801 P.2d 222 (1990). Under <u>Berg</u>, extrinsic evidence that does not modify or contradict the writing, is admissible under the "context" rule. The "context" rule is one requiring some objective manifestation of the agreement rather than a subjective interest of the parties. Ambiguity is not necessary before extrinsic evidence is allowed. <u>Berg</u>.

In this appeal, the surrounding circumstances were <u>unopposed</u> by Chase. The purpose of refinancing the old mortgage was to lower the monthly payment. Washington Mutual agreed to allow a fixed 5-year moratorium minimum; with the difference in the monthly payment and the total monthly interest to be added to the principal. CP5; CP19. Heintz's Declaration stated the basic background:

"Together my wife and I borrowed one million (\$1,000,000.00) from Washington Mutual Savings Bank in Seattle, Washington, to finance a prior loan. The intention of both the bank and the plaintiff was to lower the monthly payments for a period of five years. After five years, the monthly payments would be adjusted to a higher payment." (CP5).

In addition to the declaration, Washington Mutual accepted the \$3451.26 payments from Heintz for 12 months without further demand. It was only when Chase bought the note that a higher monthly payment was demanded. The trial court treated the moratorium as if it didn't exist and ignored the reasons for it in the refinancing. Instead, the court enforced other interest rate change dates that were not enforceable. CP5, CP12.

The meaning and interpretation in this appeal should be given its plain meaning in accordance with that meaning given to the moratorium by Heintz if Washington Mutual knew or had reason to know that he did so. On this score, the trial court should have heard all relevant evidence of the surrounding circumstances and weigh the credibility of the evidence. Summary judgment was improper.

C. IT WAS REVERSIBLE ERROR TO DISMISS THE HEINTZ COMPLAINT. CR12(b)(6)

Chase moved for Summary Judgment under CR12(b)(6) of the Rules for Superior Court. CP16. The basis alleged was failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. The rule is a substitute for the old demurrer and performs the same function.

Under this rule, the complaint is liberally construed upon the broad principle that a motion to dismiss for the insufficiency of the complaint should not be granted unless it appears to a certainty that no state of facts could be proved that would entitle a plaintiff to relief. It may also be treated as a motion for summary judgment and is sparingly granted: <u>Collins v. Lomas Nettleton</u>, <u>Corp.</u> 29 Wn. App. 415, 628 P.2nd 855 (1981). <u>Street v.</u> Moore, 26 Wn. App. 450, 613, P2d 1188 (1981).

The rule admits, for the purpose of this motion, that the moratorium granted to Heintz was true. The denial of

this proposition is a question of law and fact properly resolved by trial. <u>Pearson v. Vandermay</u>, 67 Wn.2d 222, 407, P.2d 143 (1965) (reversing a judgment of dismissal in light of the acceptance of the trial court that certain allegations pleaded were true on a motion to dismiss.)

In <u>Stidham v. Dept. of Licensing</u>, 30 Wn. App. 611, 637 P.2d 970, the court considered an action by a former securities division attorney against his employer for defamation and tortious interference. In reviewing the dismissal of the action under CR12(b)(6) for failure to state a claim the court said:

"In reviewing the propriety of the trial court's ruling, we confine ourselves to the pleadings.... In addition, we may examine a 'hypothetical' statement of facts, submitted by the parties. If the 'facts' their veracity aside, entitles the plaintiff to relief, we must consider the complaint sufficient and reverse the dismissal."

The court found, however, that the actions of the state securities director, and her assistant, were privileged and <u>affirmed</u> the dismissal.

15

When the matter on appeal is in the form of a summary judgment, but in substance is actually a motion to dismiss for failure to state a cause of action upon which relief can be granted, the Court will review the action as a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim. <u>Green v. Holmes</u>, 28 Wn. App. 135, 622, P.2d 869

Summary judgment by the trial court in this appeal was wrongfully granted under CR12(b)(6).

D. THE TRUSTEE'S NEGLIGENCE IN FAILURE TO FOLLOW STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS UNDER THE DEED OF TRUST ACT IS A QUESTION FOR TRIAL.

Heintz alleged he was forced to pay attorneys' fees and costs because the trustee failed to give proper notices to him under R.C.W. 61.24. He contends that the notices are especially important in a nonjudicial foreclosure where there is no protection afforded to the borrower by the court. <u>Cox v. Helenius</u>, 103 Wn. 2d 383, 693 P2d (1985). Statutes protecting borrowers are strictly construed, under nonjudicial foreclosures, in their favor. <u>Udall v. T.D. Escrow Service, Inc.</u> 159 Wn.2d 903, 915-16, 154 P.3rd 882 (2007). CP15.

In this appeal, the trustee, Chase, allowed 2 years to elapse between the first Notice of Default in September of 2010 and July of 2012, the second nonjudicial foreclosure . A second sale was set in June or July of 2012 for November 16, 2012 without a Notice of Default. It is submitted that this failure violates R.C.W. 61.24.031(8):

"-----at least 30 days before the notice of sale shall be recorded, transmitted or served, written notice of default shall be transmitted by the beneficiary or trustees to the borrower....."

The trustee, likewise, violated R.C.W. 61.24.040(6), which fixes 120 days as the maximum time a nonjudicial foreclosure can be continued. In this case, it was 21 months beyond the 120 days. <u>CHD, Inc. v. Bayles</u>, 138Wn App. 131, 137, 157, P2d 415 (2007) (continuing a nonjudicial sale beyond 120 days is a statutory breach that avoids the sale.); <u>Albice v. Premier Mortgage</u> <u>Services</u>, 174 Wn.2d 360 (2011). Both of the foregoing questions are mixed questions of

E. HEINTZ IS A PREVAILING PARTY, HE SHOULD RECOVER HIS ATTORNEYS' FEES.

law and fact. Summary judgment was error.

Chase's deed of trust provides for attorneys' fees and costs for Chase only. <u>Appendix I.</u> No provision is provided for in the note for attorneys' fees. Washington's public policy bars a one-way attorneys' fee provision. Our rule now is to provide attorney fees for the prevailing party. R.C.W. 4. 84.330.

"In any action on a contract....where such a contract.....specifically provides that attorneys' fees and costs....shall be awarded to one of the parties, the prevailing party, whether he or she is the party specified in the contract....or not, shall be entitled to reasonable attorneys' fees in addition to costs and necessary disbursements."

IV. CONCLUSIONS

- Refinancing was the basis of a 5-year monthly payment moratorium.
- 2. The moratorium is clear and unambiguous.
- A CR12(6) Motion to Dismiss admits the truth of the matters pleaded and summary judgment is inappropriate.

- 4. The various vexing paragraphs of the note relied upon to calculate when and what interest payment changes can be made are illusory in nature, not reasonably understandable and unenforceable.
- The trustee caused Heintz to incur costs and attorney's fees by negligently failing to follow notices required by the Deed of Trust Act.
- If Heintz prevails in this appeal, he should be awarded reasonable attorneys' fees and costs.