70628-4

70638-4

ORIGINAL

Case No. 70628-4

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

HERBERT HEINTZ AND BARBARA HEINTZ, HIS WIFE,

Appellants,

VS.

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., et. al.

Respondents.



Appeal from an Order of the King County Superior Court Case No. 12-2-39861-5SEA

RESPONDENT QUALITY LOAN SERVICE CORPORATION OF WASHINGTON'S BRIEF

Joseph Ward McIntosh, WSBA #39470
Attorney for Respondent Quality Loan Services Corp. of Washington
McCarthy & Holthus, LLP
19735 10th Avenue NE, Ste N200
Poulsbo WA 98370
P: 206-399-5034
F: 206.780.6862
jmcintosh@mccarthyholthus.com

I. INTRODUCTION

The subject lawsuit stems from the non-judicial foreclosure of Appellants' real property. CP at 33-34. Appellants defaulted on their Note and Deed of Trust by failing to make their monthly payments. CP at 6. Respondent Quality Loan Service Corporation of Washington ("Quality") was appointed successor trustee under the Deed of Trust to conduct the non-judicial foreclosure. CP at 59.

Quality issued the first statutory notice – the Notice of Default – in 2010. CP at 129-152. The Notice of Default was followed by the first Notice of Sale, scheduling a sale date for February 2011. CP at 2. In response, Appellants filed their first lawsuit, and the sale was postponed during the pendency of that action. CP at 2.

The first lawsuit was dismissed in October of 2011. CP at 7. The first Notice of Sale had expired by the time the lawsuit was dismissed¹. Quality issued a second Notice of Sale in September of 2012. CP at 7. The second Notice of Sale concerned the same default from 2010. CP at 7. Quality did not issue a new Notice of Default in connection with the second Notice of Sale, nor did it need to because the default had not been cured. CP at 46.

¹ As explained later in the brief, a Notice of Sale has an expiration date, and must be reissued after it expires.

Appellants filed the subject lawsuit alleging Quality violated the Deed of Trust Act by not issuing a new Notice of Default prior to the second Notice of Sale. CP at 33-34. The sole issue in the case as it pertains to Quality (and on appeal) is a legal one – whether Quality was required to issue a new Notice of Default. The Trial Court correctly ruled that the law did not require a new Notice of Default, and the Trial Court's order dismissing Quality should be affirmed. CP at 72.

II. ARGUMENT

A. Washington's Deed of Trust Act – The Notices.

Washington's Deed of Trust Act, RCW 61.24, sets forth the procedure for conducting a non-judicial foreclosure. The statute requires two notices. The two notices collectively create a minimum 120-150 day period of time before a sale can take place.

The first notice is a Notice of Default, which is required at least 30 days prior to the issuance of a Notice of Sale. RCW 61.24.030(8).

The second notice is the Notice of Sale. Thirty days after issuance of the Notice of Default, a Notice of Sale can issue. RCW 61.24.030(8). The Notice of Sale sets the scheduled auction date for the property. RCW 61.24.040(1)(f). The Notice of Sale is either a 90 or 120 day notice, depending on whether the property is owner occupied residential real property. RCW 61.24.040(1).

Following issuance of the Notice of Sale, the scheduled auction date can be continued for up to 120 days. RCW 61.24.040(6). After 120 days from the original auction date, the operative Notice of Sale expires. Albice v. Premier Mortgage Services of Washington, Inc., 174 Wn.2d 560, 276 P.3d 1277 (2012). At that point, a new Notice of Sale must issue to conduct the foreclosure. Id.

As long as the borrower remains in default, nothing prevents the re-issuance of a new Notice of Sale.

B. Notice of Default Does Not Expire.

Unlike the Notice of Sale, the Notice of Default does not expire by operation of law. Nothing in the Deed of Trust Act or the case law suggests that a Notice of Default expires by the mere passage of time. Absent the borrower bringing the loan obligation current (and curing their original default), a Notice of Default remains good, and Notices of Sale can continue to issue on the original default.

This Court's decision in *Reisinger v. Deutsche Bank National Trust*, 2013 Wash.App. LEXIS 973 (Div. 1, 2013), although unpublished, confirms the above. In *Reisinger*, the Notice of Default and Notice of Sale were issued in 2008. The borrowers filed for bankruptcy one day prior to the sale. In 2010, the beneficiary obtained relief from stay, and the trustee issued a new Notice of Sale. No new Notice of Default was issued. The

borrowers, like Appellants in this case, filed suit alleging a defective foreclosure because, among other reasons, a new Notice of Default was not issued. This Court affirmed the dismissal, holding that no new Notice of Default was required. *Id.* at 5-7.

Appellants cite RCW 61.24.040(6) and *Albice v. Premier Mortgage Services of Washington, Inc.*, et al, 174 Wn.2d 560, 276 P.3d 1277 (2012) for the proposition that the Notice of Default expires after 120 days. But RCW 61.24.040(6) and *Albice* concern only the Notice of Sale (and its 120 sale period), not the Notice of Default. These citations provide no support for the Appellants' claim that the Notice of Default should have been re-issued.

C. Quality Complied with the Deed of Trust Act.

The facts in this case are undisputed. The Notice of Default was mailed and posted on Appellants' property on October 1, 2010. CP at 129-152. The first and second Notices of Sale were issued more than 30 days after the Notice of Default, which Appellants acknowledge. (See AOB 7-8, 17.). Id.

None of the evidence allegations submitted by Appellants show that Quality violated the Deed of Trust Act in any way. Therefore, the trial court correctly dismissed Appellants' Complaint against Quality.

D. Appellants Not Entitled to Attorney Fees.

Appellants ask for attorney fees against Quality in connection with this appeal. Appellants cite no legal authority for awarding fees against Quality. Appellants' request for fees should be denied.

III. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should affirm the dismissal of Appellants' Complaint against Quality.